
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY EaSfern DiSfrict of Kentucky 

FILED 
CENTRAL DIVISION 

LEXINGTON 

UNITED ST ATES OF AMERICA 

MAY O 4 2023 

AT LEXINGTON 
Robert R. Carr 

CLERK U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

V. INDICTMENT N0. 5 · 23 C.~-J.t~-D(e-vV\~S: 

AUSTIN MICHAEL GENA Y 

* * * * * 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

BACKGROUND ALLEGATIONS 

1. At all relevant times, the defendant, AUSTIN MICHAEL GENA Y, 

hereinafter referred to as "GENA Y", resided in or near Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. 

2. At all relevant times, in late 2015 and early 2016, GENA Y was affiliated with 

an online chat room which s rvic d both the G orgetown, Kentucky area, located in the 

Eastern District of Kentucky, and Philadelphia, Penn y lvania area. 

3. At all relevant times, an individual known to the Grand Jury, hereinafter 

referred to as "T, ' was an individual who r sided in or near Georgetown, Kentucky, in 

the Eastern District of Kentucky . Twas married, and T and T ' s spouse were each active 

in the local community. 

4. In or about late 2015 , and continuing through in or about early 2016, GENAY 

engaged in an online sexual relation hip with T. 

Case: 5:23-cr-00049-DCR-MAS   Doc #: 1   Filed: 05/04/23   Page: 1 of 8 - Page ID#: 1



5. Beginning in or about Decemb r 2015 , and continuing until in or about July of 

2019, GENA Y habitually d mand d money for his purported p rsonal xpenses from T 

in increments of approximate! $20.00 to 5,000.00 through various means of electronic 

communication. 

6. GENAY used various mechanisms designed to facilitate the electronic transfer 

of funds between users to demand funds from T including, but not limited to Square 

Ca h, Appl Ca h, Google Wall t, and W stern Union. 

7. In or about 2017, T attempted to cease communication with GENAY. 

8. Beginning in or about the year 2017, and continuing through in or about July 

2019 the exact dates unknown, GENA Y regularly threatened to expose messages and 

screenshots he had saved to document his prior online sexual relationship with T to a 

third party when T did not meet his monetary demands. In respon e, T frequently 

transferred fund to GENA Yin an attempt to avoid potentially significant harm to his 

reputation, hi familial relationships and to his business interests. 

9. At all relevant times, GENAY knowingly fabricated variou needs and 

xpense to justify his demands from T for money, including legal fe s, bail mon y, car 

repairs , schooling, rent, and fees to a tow company for continued use of his vehicle 

among other claims. 

10. In r sponse to GENA Y's threat demand , and fabricated claims T paid 

GENA Ya total of approximately $468 418.00 from in or about August 2015 to in or 

about July 2019. 
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COUNT 1 
18 U.S.C. § 875(d) 

11. Paragraph 1 through 10 ar r all g d and incorporat d by reference as if 

fully s t forth h rein. 

12. Beginning on or about June 11, 2019 and continuing through on or about June 

15, 2019, in Scott County, in the East rn District of K ntucky 

AUSTI MICHAEL GENAY, 

with the intent to extort money or other thing of value from , knowingly transmitted in 

interstate commerce from the tate of Pennsylvania to the Commonwealth of Kentucky, a 

series oft xt messages via cellular telephone containing a threat to injure the reputation 

ofT, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 875(d). 

COUNT2 
18 U.S.C. § 875(d) 

13. Beginning on or about June 20, 2019 and continuing through on or about June 

22, 2019 in Scott County, in the Eastern Di trict of Kentucky, 

AUSTIN MICHAEL GENAY, 

with the intent to xtort mon y or other thing ofvalu from knowingly tran mitted in 

int rstat commerc from the State of Pennsylvania to the ommonwealth of Kentucky, a 

series of text mes age via cellular telephone containing a threat to injur the r putation 

of T all in violation of 18 U ... § 875(d). 

COUNT3 
18 U.S.C. § 875(d) 

14. On or about July 5, 2019 in Scott County, in the astern District of Kentucky, 
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AUSTIN MICHAEL GENA Y 

with th int nt to extort money or other thing of value from T, knowingly transmitted in 

interstate commerce from the State of Penn lvania to the Commonwealth of Kentucky, a 

erie of text me ag ia cellular telephone containing a threat to injure the reputation 

ofT, all in violation of 18 U.S.C . 875(d). 

COUNTS 4-7 
18 u.s.c. § 1343 

15. Paragraphs 1 through 14 are realleged and incorporated by reference as if 

fully set forth herein. 

16 . On or about the dates et forth below, in Scott County, in th East rn District 

of Kentucky and el ewhere, 

AUSTI MICHAEL GENAY 

having de ised and intending to d vi a ch m and a1iifice to d fraud , and for 

obtaining money and property by means offal e and fraudul nt pret n 

representations, and promises concerning material fact and matter for th purpos of 

executing uch cheme and artifice, did tran mit and cau to b tran mitt d by m an of 

wir communication in interstate commerce, 1gn ignal , picture and ound , a 

follow : 

COUNT 
4 

CRJPTIO 
300.00 transfer from T via Square, Inc. to the Defendant with 

reference number: 4275690021357346 and note : 'For Austin 

G. Relea e. Court fee !" 
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5 5/25/2019 150.00 transfer from T via Apple Pay to an account owned 
by th De£ ndant 

6 5/28/2019 200.00 transfer from via pple Pay to an account own d by 

the Defendant 

7 5/31/2019 $60.00 tran fer from T ia Apple Pa to an account owned by 

the Defendant 

Each in iolation of 18 U.S .C. 1343. 

COUNTS 
18 U. .C. § 2261A(2)(B) 

17. Paragraphs 1 through 10 are realleged and incorporated by reference as if 

fully t forth her in. 

18. From in or about Jun 201 7 the xact date being unknown, and continuing 

through on or about July 2019 in the Ea tern Di trict of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, 

AUSTIN MICHAEL GENAY, 

with the intent to hara s and intimidate another person, that is T a resident of K ntucky 

u ed electronic communication s rvice and electronic communication ystem of 

inter tat commerce and other faciliti of inter tate and foreign commerce, to wit, 

iM ag , Facebook Me enger, internet web ites, and electronic payment applications, 

to engage in a cour e of conduct that caused, attempted to cause, and would be 

reasonably expected to caus ub tantial motional di tre to T in violation of 18 . .C. 

§ 2261A(2)(B). 
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS 
18 U.S.C. § 98l{a)(l)(C) 

28 U.S.C. § 246l{c) 
21 u.s.c. § 853(p) 

19. By irtue of the commission of the offenses alleged in Counts 1 through 7 of 

this Indictm nt, th D fendant, AUSTIN MICHAEL GENAY, shall forfeit to the 

United tates any property, real or per onal that con titute or i derived from proceeds 

traceable to the commission of the off en e . ny and all interest that AUSTIN 

MICHAEL GENA Y has in this property is vested in and forfeited to the United tates 

pursuant to 18 U.S .. § 98l(a) (1) (C) and 28 U .. C. § 246l(c). 

20. The property to be forfeited includ s, but is not limit d to th following: 

MONEY JUDGMENT 
A forfeiture money judgment in an amount representing th gro proce d in 
aggr gate obtained by the Defendant as a result of the violation all g din this 
Indictment. 

21. If any of th prop rty describ d above, as a result of any act or omission of the 

Defendant, (A) cannot be located upon the exerci e of due diligence; (B) has b n 

tran ferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party· (C) has been placed beyond th 

juri diction of the court; (D) has been ubstantially dimini hed in valu · or (E) ha b en 

commingled with oth r property which cannot b divided without difficulty, the nited 

States shall be entitl d to forfeit ubstitut property pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853(p). 
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A TRUE BILL 

UNITED 
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COUNTS 1-3: 

COUNTS 4-7: 

COUNT 8: 

PLUS: 

PLUS: 

PLUS: 

PENALTIES 

Imprisonment for not more than 2 years, a fine of not more than the 
greater of $250,000 or twice the gross financial gain or loss, and 

supervised release for not more than 1 year. 

Imprisonment for not more than 20 years, a fine of not more than the 
greater of $250,000 or twice the gross financial gain or loss, and 

supervised release for not more than 3 years. 

Imprisonment for not more than 5 years, a fine of not more than 
$250,000, and supervised release for not more than 3 years. 

Restitution, as applicable. 

Forfeiture, as applicable. 

Mandatory special assessment of$100 per count. 
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